# IGC Call for proposals

# **Application guidelines**

July 2024







### Contents

1.	Gener	al information	1
	1.1.	About the IGC	1
	1.2.	Engaging policymakers through the IGC	1
2.	Resea	rch priorities	2
3.	Award	s and eligibility	3
	3.1.	Awards	3
	3.2.	Eligibility	4
4.	Review	v process	5
	4.1.	Evaluation criteria	5
	4.2.	Review of proposals	5
	4.3.	Awards	5
5.	Submi	tting your application	7
	5.1.	Instructions	7
	5.2.	Submission guidelines	7
6.	Guidel	ines for completing the proposal form	8
	6.1.	Project summary	8
	6.2.	Participant information	8
	6.3.	Research theme and country focus	9
	6.4.	Academic innovation and research design	10
	6.5.	Activities and data collection	10
	6.6.	Policy engagement and planned stakeholder activities	10
	6.7.	Relevance to inclusive growth policy and inclusivity markers	10
	6.8.	Financial information	10
	6.9.	Project outputs	.11
	6.10.	External funding	13
	6.11.	Terms and conditions	13
7.	Budge	t guidelines	14
	7.1.	Fees for project personnel	14
	7.2.	Data collection	15
	7.3.	Events / dissemination	16
	7.4.	Travel expenses	16
	7.5.	Equipment	17
	7.6.	Subcontractor(s)	17
	7.7.	Overhead	17
Α	nnex 1 – F	requently Asked Questions	18

### 1. General information

### 1.1. About the IGC

The International Growth Centre (IGC) works with policymakers in low- and middle-income countries to promote inclusive and sustainable growth through pathbreaking research. Through a distinctly collaborative and cross-national approach to research and policy influence, the IGC has developed an innovative, policy-driven model that funds research which focuses on developing an effective state, fostering private sector enterprise, enabling functioning cities and promoting access to energy – with the underlying aim of driving up living standards and lifting people out of poverty.

The IGC directs a global network of world-leading researchers and in-country teams in Africa and South Asia, and works closely with partner governments to generate high quality research and policy advice on key growth challenges. Based at LSE and in partnership with the University of Oxford, the IGC is majority funded by the UK Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO).

We have resident teams in 10 partner countries throughout Africa, the Middle East, and South Asia. Country offices allow the IGC to sustain long-term policy engagement and help ensure our work is demand-led. Our partner countries are **Bangladesh**, **Ethiopia**, **Ghana**, **Jordan**, **Mozambique**, **Pakistan**, **Rwanda**, **Sierra Leone**, **Uganda**, and **Zambia**. We also have ongoing engagements on specific topics in **Tanzania**, **India**, and **Yemen**, and we encourage research in these countries as well.

Conducting research in countries where we have a country office comes with advantages – access to local research partners, datasets, and established, well-connected country teams. IGC staff provide dedicated support for policy engagement, facilitating meetings with policymakers and key stakeholders, and providing feedback on proposals and project outputs. As a result, the IGC tends to favour projects in IGC partner countries.

### 1.2. Engaging policymakers through the IGC

Achieving policy impact is a central part of the IGC's purpose. Researchers receiving funding can make use of IGC country offices who are uniquely placed to support policymaker engagement for your project. They can provide dedicated support for policy engagement, facilitate meetings with policymakers and key stakeholders, and deliver feedback on project outputs. Regarding policy impact, researchers are strongly encouraged to:

- Reach out to the relevant IGC country team before applying to identify a clear route to policy impact.
- Maintain contact with the relevant IGC country team and explore opportunities to collaborate.
- Engage with policymakers in IGC partner countries within the context of the IGC's work. This could entail taking part in IGC-organised country visits, conferences and workshops, as well as direct interaction (in person or remotely) with policymakers, in coordination with the IGC country offices.
- Work with an assigned Country Economist and IGC hub team at LSE to communicate the results of the research to a broader stakeholder audience, including through blogs.
- Involve researchers residing in IGC partner countries in their work, where possible.

### 2. Research priorities

The IGC's research focuses on sustainable growth policies in low- and middle-income countries. Sustainable growth refers to countries developing their potential in an inclusive way that improves social, environmental, and economic well-being for all, including for future generations.

IGC is working with our partners in governments and other stakeholders to put sustainable and inclusive growth at the forefront of academic and policy efforts. It is increasingly clear that creating jobs, raising incomes and reducing poverty must go hand in hand with efforts to increase resilience to climate shocks and to accelerate the decarbonisation of energy supply and production to ensure the well-being of current and future generations.

We are interested in pilots, exploratory research, and full research projects that address key growth challenges connected to one of our four themes, with a particular interest in those related to building resilience and promoting sustainable growth.

**Firms**, **trade**, **and productivity** - Increasing productivity through structural changes in firms' capabilities, the functioning of markets and how firms interact with world markets, while promoting green innovation and enhancing resilience against climate shocks.

**State effectiveness** - Escaping fragility and improving the capabilities and effectiveness of states to deliver higher rates of inclusive growth, while addressing the challenges of environmental externalities.

**Cities -** Making cities more productive and inclusive while addressing the downsides of density and ensuring resilience where climate change accelerates urbanisation.

**Energy and environment -** Improving access to reliable, cost-efficient energy and supporting the transition to clean energy to reduce damaging externalities and more effective management of natural capital.

- 1 For a clear report of IGC country priorities, see <u>here</u>.
- 2 For a detailed research agenda for each theme, we *strongly* encourage you to read the IGC Research strategy.
- For a more detailed description of IGC research clusters and gaps, see the recent <u>IGC White Paper on Sustainable Growth.</u>
- For a review of the literature on each of our four themes of research, see the 'Evidence Papers' for each of our four themes: state, firms, energy, and cities.
- For examples on how to develop a strong research design, please refer to our <u>Resources for Applicants</u> webpage. We also have examples of model budgets and past successful proposals for you to refer to, as well as an overview of the application form itself.

### 3. Awards and eligibility

### 3.1. Awards

Two distinct types of awards are available under this call:

**Full research grants:** These grants are for fully developed research projects, regardless of budget. Not only must the research question be clear, but applicants must also demonstrate a commitment from implementing partners (if applicable), and a clear and compelling research design. Proposals can be submitted for any type of research, and we encourage the use of a variety of approaches, including using secondary data. Proposals can also be submitted for funding the continuation of research projects that have already started where new research opportunities arise. The expectation is that projects funded by full research grants will result in a paper publishable in a top economics journal and generate significant policy impact.

**Small research grants:** These grants are for exploratory research and pilot studies. Small research grants are designed to enable researchers to further refine and test innovative research ideas with high potential for policy impact by conducting preliminary research and engaging with partners, which will enable strong applications to the full research grants in future rounds.

Researchers must conduct their research in one of the 10 countries where the IGC has an office (Bangladesh, Ethiopia, Ghana, Jordan, Mozambique, Pakistan, Rwanda, Sierra Leone, Uganda, and Zambia) or Tanzania, India, and Yemen. They are expected to connect with the IGC country team during proposal development, which comes with several advantages including potential access to policymakers, access to feedback, and data.

We encourage any researcher to apply for the small research grant, but in particular PhD students, early-career researchers, and local researchers. The maximum amount we will award for a pilot study is GBP 30,000, and the maximum amount we will award for purely exploratory research that does not involve a pilot component is GBP 20,000.

- Exploratory research: this relates to preliminary research ideas, such as conducting background research, developing partnerships, visiting field sites, and collecting preliminary data. Funding for exploratory research should be used to support costs related to the researcher's travel and engagement with the relevant IGC country team and policymakers, to develop a proposal for a pilot or full research grant proposals to submit to subsequent calls for proposals.
- Pilot studies: will be awarded to projects with a reasonably well-developed research question, but for which
  the design and implementation requires further testing and pilot data before it can be scaled-up into a larger
  research study. New evidence from the pilot can lead to an adjustment or reformulation of the research
  question. Grant awardees are expected to engage with relevant policy stakeholders, implementation
  partners, and the relevant IGC country team for feedback during the pilot, to further shape their interventions
  and research design for scale-up.

### The following contracting information is applicable to both award types:

The IGC requires researchers to submit proposals through a managing research institution/ organisation (University, NGO, think tank, etc.). The IGC and its country offices do not count as managing institutions. As you submit your proposal through a managing institution, you must work in collaboration with the institution's relevant bodies and gain their approval prior to submitting the proposal and budget.

If a proposal is approved by the IGC, a contract will be raised between LSE and the managing institution, binding the institution to a number of legal requirements. It is therefore crucial that, to avoid any contracting delays, you must collaborate with the managing institution to develop the project proposal and budget before submission and that they can adhere to the LSE (IGC) Supplier Terms and Conditions.

In addition, the authorised institutional signatory must be identified and provided in the proposal documentation. The authorised signatory is a person who has been given the right to sign legally binding contracts on behalf of the institution. This is important to provide at this stage when collaborating with the managing institution so as not to delay contracting of the project. Please note, the authorised signatory cannot be the project principal investigator (PI).

### 3.2. Eligibility

The IGC gives equal opportunity to researchers from all over the world, and proposals are assessed on quality and the evaluation criteria outlined in this document. However, please see below some guiding principles.

- 1 A researcher from any country is allowed to apply for the full research grant and the small research grant.
- A single researcher can be included in more than one proposal during the same call for proposals with different proposals. A single institution is allowed to submit multiple proposals. If multiple proposals are submitted, the researcher and/or institutions involved should have the capacity to conduct the research according to the proposed timescales.
- The Lead PI of a proposal must hold or be currently pursuing a PhD. Co-PIs generally should have the same qualifications, but candidates with a master's degree can be considered.
- For the small grants, researchers must conduct their research in one of our 10 partner countries, or Tanzania, India, or Yemen. They must also get in touch with the IGC Country Team as they work on their proposals. For proposals in the latter three countries, please get in touch with the London Hub.
- 5 For full research grants, the IGC will not fund projects over GBP 125,000, and our average project value is 60,000.
- The IGC will not fund projects that are a) purely qualitative, b) not grounded in sound economic research principles, or c) relevant only to middle- or high-income countries.
- 7 Applications that are in line with IGC research priorities, empirically rigorous, advance our knowledge about inclusive growth policy, and have strong value for money are favoured.

Applicants should carefully review the <u>country</u> and <u>thematic</u> research priorities on the IGC website to understand the areas the IGC focuses on, and to ensure that their proposal is eligible for funding. Proposals that align with a specific IGC country's areas of focus but are not directly tied into one of the four research themes will not be discounted. Likewise, proposals that involve one of the four research themes but are not directly tied into one of the IGC countries' areas of focus will also be considered for funding. Proposals in IGC countries are more likely to be approved.

### 4. Review process

#### 4.1. Evaluation criteria

The IGC gives equal opportunities to researchers from all over the world, and research proposals are assessed based on their ability to show empirical rigour, relevance to inclusive growth policy, and value for money. The IGC will not fund projects that are a) purely qualitative, b) not grounded in sound economic research principles, or c) relevant only to middle-or high-income countries.

The main criteria against which proposals are evaluated are as follows:

- 1 Alignment with research strategy: Does the research question address the IGC research priorities identified in the IGC Research Strategy and IGC Country research priorities?
- **Quality of research design:** This captures the academic rigor and quality of research design. Only projects that can demonstrate methods likely to produce valid and reliable results are considered.
- **Policy impact:** The potential for direct policy impact from the research, reflecting both the importance of the policy target and the current and future engagement with relevant policymakers.
- **Academic impact:** This entails the potential for research to advance scientific understanding of a particular issue, by significantly contributing to the existing literature and being published in a high-profile economic journal.
- **Engagement with local institutions:** IGC prioritises proposals that involve local researchers, use researchers embedded in a ministry or government agency, and/or partner with local institutions. This includes Pls who reach out to country teams during proposal development or who have strong track records of engagement with policymakers.
- Value for money: This involves scrutinising the budget and considering whether it is cost-effective. Key questions to consider: is the budget proportional to the task? Could the same results be achieved more inexpensively? Do the costs reflect local market rates?

### 4.2. Review of proposals

Proposals are shortlisted for funding following a three-stage review process. The IGC first verifies proposals for completeness and eligibility and performs an initial quality assessment. Eligible proposals then undergo a peer-review evaluation by the IGC Research Programme Directors and IGC country teams, based on the evaluation criteria specified above.

Following the peer-review evaluation, proposals are ranked and shortlisted for decision-making by the Commissioning Boards, which are composed of a group of academic and policy specialists as well as the IGC leadership team. The IGC holds four Commissioning Board meetings, one on each thematic research area: 1) Firms, Trade, and Productivity, 2) State Effectiveness, 3) Cities and 4) Energy and Environment.

The IGC strictly adheres to rules of impartiality during its evaluation process and Conflict of Interests provisions are in place to ensure that decision-making happens fairly and transparently. All reviewers and Commissioning Boards members that have a conflict of interest are not involved in any stage of the decision-making process on those proposals.

The boards will convene in **December 2024** to decide on the final selection of proposals. Applicants will be informed of the outcome of their application shortly after the Commissioning Boards meetings by the end of **January 2025**.

The Commissioning Boards may impose additional conditions and request further information and/or amendments to the proposal whenever needed. All proposals that are selected for funding are finally approved by FCDO to safeguard against any duplication of other FCDO-funded research.

#### 4.3. Awards

Successful applicants will be issued an award letter which contains details of the funding after which contractual agreements are drawn up. Incorrect information on the application form, costs which do not adhere to IGC guidelines, and negotiations with institutions regarding the <u>LSE (IGC) Supplier Terms and Conditions</u> can all lead to contracting delays.

To avoid delays with contracting due to terms and conditions negotiations, we strongly encourage early interaction between the managing institution's signatory/legal department and Vicky Turnbull, the IGC's Head of Contracting and Programme Coordination: <a href="mailto:v.a.turnbull@lse.ac.uk">v.a.turnbull@lse.ac.uk</a>. Before interaction, please read the FAQ relating to the terms and conditions.

### 5. Submitting your application

#### 5.1. Instructions

Please follow these steps in submitting your proposal:

- Review the <a href="IGC research priorities">IGC Research strategy</a>', which lays out the core research agenda. We strongly encourage you to read the <a href="IGC Research strategy">IGC Research strategy</a>', which lays out the core research questions and priorities within our four themes. For a review of the literature on those themes and associated gaps, we also include 'Evidence Papers' for each of our four themes: <a href="state">state</a>, <a href="firms">firms</a>, <a href="energy">energy</a>, and <a href="cities">cities</a>. Proposals will be graded on their degree of alignment with IGC research priorities. We also strongly encourage you to review the country research priorities for the country you wish to conduct research in.
- 2 Read these application guidelines to help you complete your application. This guide contains useful information covering budgets and remuneration, project deliverables, and grant management.
- 3 Get in touch with the relevant IGC country team and share your research idea with them. They will review it and provide feedback.
- 4 Seek approval from and collaborate with your institutional research department to build and finalise the project proposal and budget ensuring adherence to IGC's budget and funding conditions found in this document.
- 5 Complete the online IGC proposal form for the grant you're applying for. Click <u>here to apply for full research grants</u>, and here to apply for small grants.
- Submit the completed online proposal form by **17:00 GMT on 30 September 2024**. Late applications will not be considered. Applications without budgetary information will not be considered for funding. Make sure you save your work as you progress on your application.
- After submitting your online application form, you will receive a short questionnaire from us that allows us to get to know you a little bit better. Please ensure you fill this out as well. It will not take more than 2 minutes of your time

### 5.2. Submission guidelines

- The proposal form contains word limits for each section which you are expected to comply with.
- Any supplementary information such as tables, charts, graphs or letters of engagement are not required as part
  of the application form and should not be submitted/emailed. Please use specific sections in the proposal
  form to describe your design in simple language within the word limit.
- Please refer to our <u>Resources for Applicants</u> webpage for examples on how to design a strong research design. We also have examples of model budgets, completed application forms, and past successful proposals for you to refer to.
- For projects based in IGC partner countries, we strongly recommend researchers discuss their proposal with the relevant IGC partner country team. Proposals discussed in advance with our Country Teams are more likely to get approved.
- For institutionally managed projects, researchers must develop the proposal and budget with their pre-awards department (or equivalent), whose approval must be provided prior to submitting a final proposal.
- Applications that are submitted late, incomplete, submitted in the incorrect format, or do not include a budget breakdown will not be considered for funding.

Please email <a href="mailto:igc.spear@lse.ac.uk">igc.spear@lse.ac.uk</a> with any technical queries and <a href="mailto:igc.research@lse.ac.uk">igc.research@lse.ac.uk</a> with any thematic queries.

### 6. Guidelines for completing the proposal form

### 6.1. Project summary

### Project title, summary, and confidentiality

The focus of the summary should be the motivation and policy impact of the research. It should be approximately 300 words in length. It should include: the primary motivation of your study; a concise description of your research question; a non-technical summary of the research design; and the policy relevance of the project and the expected impact.

If your project is successful and it is not flagged as confidential, the IGC would like to upload the short summary on the IGC website.

#### Start and end date

We strongly advise researchers to select a project **start date** <u>between 1 February and 15 March 2025</u> to allow time necessary for funding decisions to be made, researchers to be notified, and the contracting process to be completed before a project is due to begin. This enables the first payment to be made, and allows for the fieldwork, etc. to start later at the discretion of the researcher. The **end date** of the project (i.e., the date on which the final deliverable is due for submission to the IGC) cannot go past 31<sup>st</sup> August 2027.

### 6.2. Participant information

### **Management body**

The IGC now requires contracting research projects by an **institution** rather than an individual researcher as it is the most streamlined and efficient contracting method. We encourage prospective applicants to notify their managing institution in advance so they are aware of the involvement from the outset and can streamline the contracting process. The IGC and its country offices do not count as managing institutions. Institutions can include universities, think tanks, NGOs, etc.), and are the ones who will manage the grant funds.

If any of the Principal Investigators are affiliated with an institution, you must check if the institution can manage the project. The managing institution is responsible for overseeing project spend in line with the approved budget. The managing institution is also responsible for ensuring that the research is conducted as outlined within the approved proposal and that outputs are delivered on time. You will be asked to provide contact details of the institution's approved signatory in the proposal form, as they will be signing the contract on behalf of the institution. Managing institutions will be required to review and accept contracting terms and conditions, including proposal budgets and overhead allocation. Please ensure that the Pre-Award grant managers at your institution review and approve the proposal before submission.

For these contracts, the full project budget (inclusive of individual and project expenses) is split into payment milestones each of which is tied to one or more outputs. Payments are made to the institution upon final approval of all outputs in each milestone. Please note that if the project is approved, the IGC will need to undertake a full Due Diligence Assessment, where the institution will be required to submit various documents as evidence of financial and operational compliance.

An institutionally managed project can have an overhead of up to 15% of the project cost and will need to submit a Final Financial Statement as one of the outputs at the end of the project to confirm actual spend. If the project uses subcontractors, the total amount of overhead charged **cannot exceed 15% across the multiple contracted parties**. The full budget of the project will be paid via milestones, and at least 30% of the budget is linked to the final milestone to ensure final deliverables are submitted and approved by the project end date.

### Research staff and project staff

The main responsibilities and contact details of the research and project team (i.e. principal, co-investigators, research manager, research assistant etc.) should be outlined here. Researchers who do not have a personal website should attach a CV or resume (max. 2 pages). Every project should have a principal investigator. Education status along with fee rates for the principal and co-investigators must be outlined here.

If the daily fee rate for anyone costed on the budget is over £65 per day, the IGC will need to review their CV and check this against the IGC Pay Matrix.

### 6.3. Research theme and country focus

### Research theme

The IGC's research focuses on **sustainable** growth policies in low- and middle-income countries. Sustainable growth refers to countries developing their potential in an inclusive way that improves social, environmental, and economic well-being for all, including for future generations.

IGC is working with our partners in governments, and other stakeholders, to put sustainable and inclusive growth at the core of our research. It is increasingly clear that creating jobs, raising incomes, and reducing poverty must go hand in hand with efforts to increase resilience to climate shocks and to accelerate the decarbonisation of energy supply and production to ensure the well-being of current and future generations.

We are interested in pilots, exploratory research, and full projects that address key growth challenges connected to one of our four themes, with a particular interest in those related to building resilience and promoting sustainable growth.

**Firms**, **trade**, **and productivity** - Increasing productivity through structural changes in firms' capabilities, the functioning of markets and how firms interact with world markets, while promoting green innovation and enhancing resilience against climate shocks.

**State effectiveness** - Escaping fragility and improving the capabilities and effectiveness of states to deliver higher rates of inclusive growth, while addressing the challenges of environmental externalities.

**Cities -** Making cities more productive and inclusive while addressing the downsides of density and ensuring resilience where climate change accelerates urbanisation.

**Energy and environment -** Improving access to reliable, cost-efficient energy and supporting the transition to clean energy to reduce damaging externalities and more effective management of natural capital.

For more information read our research priorities.

### **Country focus**

Identify which IGC partner country will be the focus of your project. If your project focuses on multiple IGC countries, please list them in order of relevance and indicate if you have discussed the proposal with an IGC partner country team (a prerequisite for small grant applications). For full research grant proposals, if the main country of focus is a non-IGC partner country, identify which country it is. Proposals for research in IGC countries will be favoured.

We also accept exceptional proposals for research in any other low- and middle-income countries that have the capability to influence global debates on sustainable growth, demonstrate a potential to significantly push the frontier of knowledge on a particular issue, and provide clear policy recommendations that are also relevant for IGC countries. These proposals will receive a higher level of scrutiny, and we expect them to be subject to a much higher level of competition.

### 6.4. Academic innovation and research design

Use the first question in this section to state the main research question(s) and explain how this project will push the frontier of existing knowledge. Please assume the reader has no prior knowledge of the subject matter or literature. Ensure that your research question is written clearly and concisely. Explain why your research question is novel, and present evidence to support this by citing existing literature and how you will build on it. Please limit your answer to a maximum of 500 words.

Use the second part of this section to provide details on the project's proposed research design, methodology and context. This should include information on planned surveys, any use of external providers, and research assistants. This section is restricted to 1500 words. Any supplementary information such as tables, charts, graphs or letters of engagement are not required as part of the application form and should not be submitted/emailed. Please use these sections in the proposal form to describe your design in simple language within the word limit.

### 6.5. Activities and data collection

In this section, select the type(s) of activity the project relates to, methodology (if it involves empirical analysis) and source of data. This section will give us an overview of the proposed research design and methodology.

### 6.6. Policy engagement and planned stakeholder activities

The IGC has an overarching aim of taking research into policy and we take policy impact very seriously. This is how most of our research projects are evaluated. Most of the projects that achieve impact have researchers who looked at how they will engage with policymakers from the start. Use this section to outline if there is an established primary counterpart or stakeholder for this project and reflect on IGC's involvement prior to the project being submitted. Researchers are expected to define the stakeholders to whom this project responds and/or is directed towards; describe how this project opportunity was identified; and if relevant, detail the way in which you have engaged or are planning to engage with policy stakeholders, particularly with regards to the project design, implementation and dissemination. This section is restricted to 500 words.

### 6.7. Relevance to inclusive growth policy and inclusivity markers

Use this section in the proposal form to describe the project's relevance to the inclusive growth policy challenges faced by low- and middle-income countries. Describe how it fits with the IGC research agenda. This section is restricted to 500 words. In the last part of this question, highlight the relevant inclusivity markers as they relate to the project.

#### 6.8. Financial information

### Budget breakdown

All proposals should provide a detailed budget breakdown, which is included in your online application form, which must be developed in collaboration with the managing institution. Information on the different cost categories and tips for completing the template is found in section 7 - budget guidelines of this document. Please read carefully through those instructions before filling out this section.

In all budget categories, applicants should bear in mind that '**Value for Money**' (VfM) is one of the IGC's core evaluation criteria. Proposals will be evaluated against VfM criteria covering the following:

<u>Economy</u>: budgets will be scrutinised to consider whether they are of optimum quality and quantity of output to
warrant the value assigned, including consideration over the relative costs for fees, surveys, travel etc. Where
necessary, the Commissioning Boards could recommend alterations to the budget prior to approval and
again under programme coordinator review, if costs do not adhere to IGC guidelines.

- <u>Efficiency</u>: projects will be reviewed to consider the expected quality and quantity of outputs, as well as their relevance for policy and academic influence.
- <u>Effectiveness</u>: the intended project outcomes will be considered to ensure that the maximum possible outcomes are achieved relative to cost. This component of VfM will also consider projects' wider potential for impact related to growth policy.
- <u>Equity:</u> proposals will be evaluated without any discrimination based on a person's characteristics or any other
  aspect of a person's identity, socioeconomic situation, or geographical location. Each research proposal is
  treated and reviewed under the same standards and where possible IGC will prioritise investment in those that
  seek to engage local researchers. IGC is committed to fund projects that promote inclusive growth and
  address socioeconomic disparities.

If your project is funded by the IGC and we have approved the submitted budget, IGC rules do allow for some flexibility in shifting funds between budget lines over the lifetime of the project but you are advised to seek further guidance from the Hub in advance. Please note, that institutions will need to justify any shift of funds between budget lines in the 'Final Financial Statement' submitted at the end of the project.

### 6.9. Project outputs

The proposal form will **automatically create a default milestone schedule** based on the information you provide in your application. Changes to the milestone schedule can be considered in exceptional circumstances during the project's contracting stage.

It is the principal investigator's responsibility to notify the IGC of any project delays or research plan changes as soon as possible. Failure to do so may lead to payment delays and even threaten overall project success.

Providing accurate and detailed information in the application form will allow us to better match grant disbursements to your needs and to match payments to major blocks of research activity. The IGC will disburse funding directly to the managing institution. Disbursement of all funds will be conditional upon the quality review and approval of all deliverables.

### Payment schedule

A default schedule will be set for all IGC research projects based on their duration and budget, adhering to IGC policies.

- **First milestone**: Project Influence Plan, IRB approval/Updated Proposal form. If project funds are needed early, the IRB approval can be assigned to the second (interim) output.
- **Interim milestone:** Progress report(s). Researchers are expected to submit a progress report every 6-9 months from the due date of the first output, including for pilot and exploratory projects.
- **Final milestone:** Final Report/Working Paper, Policy Brief, Blog Post, Project Influence Report, Final Financial Statement. The due date of the final outputs needs to correspond with the end of the project.

### Type of outputs

IGC funded projects are required to submit outputs over the course of the project lifecycle. Templates <u>for each of these</u> documents can be found on our website. More information on the various outputs is summarised below.

Output	Description
IRB approval	For any research involving human participants, and/or data relating to identifiable human subjects, researchers are required to complete a research ethics review and provide proof of the approval and/or exemption from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) that conducted the review.
Project Influence Plan (PIP)	The Project Influence Plan seeks to identify which mechanisms and steps the project will employ to influence policy. The IGC is trying to better understand the way in which the policy contexts and engagement affect the impact of research on policy, which requires us to better understand the intended policy influence of each project. The information for the PIP will be drawn from the proposal form automatically.

### An interim report that summarises all project activities related to the intervention and the research completed during the reporting period, submitted every 6-9 months. This should a description of any materials produced, **Progress report** policy communication activities undertaken, objectives met, and challenges faced, and if/how they were resolved. A blog is an opportunity to introduce innovative research and policy ideas to a wider audience beyond academia, while deploying more sophisticated analyses than are normally handled by the press. The blog should be shared as a word doc (as a .docx file) and may include insights on: the context of the research question (the extent and scale of the problem) **Blog post** a description of the study design a non-technical discussion on the results achieved scope of the policy implications or remaining open questions A two to four-page document that draws from your research to provide guidance or recommendations addressing a particular policy problem, either within a specific country/region or globally. The brief should be written for a policy audience, i.e. brief, bulleted, or sectioned, attractively presented, and non-technical. A typical brief may include the following: description and significance of the problem, Policy brief evidence of the scope of the issue/factors contributing to the issue, description of your research and how it addresses the problem, recommendations for policy, and implementation issues for recommendations (i.e., political, economic, environmental, etc.) The final report is comprehensive and aimed at presenting your research project in detail, with a high degree of clarity and credibility, to policy and academic audiences. Researchers may select 'final report' as their final deliverable ONLY IF a working paper is not appropriate. Reasons for not choosing a working paper may include: Final report the nature of the research is such that it is not suitable for publication in an academic journal (i.e., qualitative or descriptive research, or highly specific policy-oriented research that does not have significant academic value), or the award is for early-stage research that will not generate results by the end of the contract. A published or working paper that is being, or has been, submitted to an academic journal. Content for a working paper must include a main report, annexes, and a bibliography, and must be suitable for publication on the IGC website. A typical final report may include the following: introduction detailing the purpose of the research, the intervention, evaluation questions, and policy significance literature review the model

Working paper	<ul> <li>evaluation design</li> <li>sampling design</li> <li>data collection</li> <li>results</li> <li>policy implications and recommendations, and conclusion</li> </ul>
Project Influence Report (PIR)	The Project Influence Report (PIR) seeks to assess the extent of stakeholder engagement, internalization and feedback related to the project. It reflects the outcomes outlined in the Project Influence Plan (PIP) at the beginning of the project. The PIR asks for information across several policy implementation and local engagement indicators. In addition to support reporting, PIR data is used for analysis to improve the IGC's ability to achieve impact on policy discourse. It also asks for updated information to act as a project summary on the IGC website.
Final Financial Statement (FFS)	A statement providing actual project expenditure against budget at the end of the project. This will need to be submitted and approved before funds can be released for the final outputs. This is only relevant for institutionally managed projects.

### 6.10. External funding

The IGC asks that you provide details of any funding that you have applied for from other funders on this project. These applications could be pending, awarded, or rejected. If your project is successful, we will confirm that the other funding required is still in place.

### 6.11. Terms and conditions

The LSE (IGC) Supplier Terms and Conditions are available on the IGC website <a href="here">here</a>.

### 7. Budget guidelines

The IGC requests a detailed budget breakdown to be submitted within the online application form. The proposed project budget will be scrutinised, and applicants should keep in mind that value for money is a key evaluation criterion. More information on what the IGC means by **value for money** can be found in section *6.8. Financial information* of this document.

If your project is institutionally managed, you must work in collaboration with your finance/research departments to develop the budget in line with IGC budget guidelines and your institution's research project cost recovery policies.

Budgets should be submitted in **Great British Pounds** (GBP) and include line by line information of all expected costs to be incurred on the project. Any budgetary requirements tied to the funding will be shared in the award Appointment Letter. The IGC performs a thorough review of all project costs and budgets may be subject to negotiations.

Awards will be made in GBP and the IGC does not allow for changes to budgets post project approval to account for exchange rate fluctuations.

As per the LSE (IGC) Supplier Terms and Conditions of the award, institutions will be contractually bound to keep accurate and systematic accounts, files and records (which must clearly identify the basis upon which charges have been calculated), and which can be made available for audit as required.

### 7.1. Fees for project personnel

All funded projects will be expected to follow funder, LSE, and IGC procurement policies. Goods and services should be competitively procured by the project team with 3 quotes sourced for contract values in excess of £8k. Lump sum expenses under £8k should be disaggregated as much as possible to allow the team to conduct VfM checks. Any line over £50k requires a formal tender process.

### Research staff fees

Proposals can include Principal and Co-Investigator remuneration where this is not covered by other sources. If the investigator is undertaking work as stated in the proposal *in addition to* the normal duties associated with his or her role in the institution, then these fee days should be accurately reflected in the budget. However, the IGC is also required to manage approval of project budgets from a value for money perspective. Therefore, proposals that contain fee days for Principal and Co-Investigators over 22 days may not be viewed as representing value for money; the situation depends in part on the PI's current remuneration and the country of residence. In summary:

- If the PI is a full-time academic on a salaried position based in a developed country (US/UK/EU, etc.) they are not allowed to claim any fees. Only under extreme circumstances will we consider exceptions to this policy.
- If the PI is a full-time academic based in a low- and middle-income country, they can claim fees up to 22 days, but usually fewer under Value for Money considerations.
- If the PI is a PhD student or a post-doc, regardless of location, there is no limit for fee days that can be claimed. However, these are subject to review under the Value for Money evaluation criterion.

The main responsibilities and contact details of the research and project team (i.e., the principal, co-investigators, research manager, research assistant etc.) should be outlined here. Researchers who do not have a personal website should attach a CV or resume in the related budget line on page 10 of the form (max. 2 pages). Every project should have a Principal Investigator. Education status along with fee rates for the principal and co-investigators must be outlined here. As noted above, the PIs generally hold or are currently pursuing a PhD. This is a strict requirement for Lead PIs and advisable for Co-PIs.

### Other project staff fees

Proposals can also include fees for other project staff such as research assistants/associates, project managers, data specialists, etc. Research assistant and personnel days should be in proportion to the length of the project and reflect the true extent of workdays.

### Daily fee rates

Fee rates should comply with the guidance and figures set out in the <u>IGC Pay Matrix</u>. Please specify in the budget the daily rate for each individual claiming fees on the project and the expected number of days worked.

### **Employment benefits**

For all fees that are part of the budget, the IGC will not provide additional funds for employment benefits over and above the fee rate. Institutions are allowed to charge their own employee and employer's oncosts to the project and can include these in the daily fee rates when submitting the proposal (ensuring that these are also in line with the IGC Pay Matrix guidelines).

### 7.2. Data collection

Data collection costs refer to any costs related to the gathering of data such as conducting surveys, field work, data subscriptions, etc. It can include enumerators' salaries, subsistence, training, accommodation, transport, materials or other related costs that are essential for the successful completion of the data collection activities. All data collection costs should be justified in the budget template.

Please note, you are required to let us know the size of the sample you will be surveying. This is to put the cost of the survey into context so a value for money judgement can be made.

### Survey staff salaries

Proposals can include salaries for field/survey staff. Please describe in the budget how many field staff will receive a salary, the number of expected days' work, and the daily rate. Please also provide a justification that explains how their time will be spent on the project.

### Survey staff travel

Proposals can include travel costs such as transport, accommodation, food, etc. for the field/survey staff working on the project. Please identify for each travel cost, how many field staff this covers, the number of days/units, and daily rate or unit cost. Please also provide a justification for the travel that will be undertaken. Any travel-related expenses of the research team should be included in the *travel expenses for project team* section of the budget.

### **Materials**

These include the sub-headings a) tech equipment rental, b) tech equipment purchase, c) stationery, d) communications, and e) data purchase/subscriptions. Proposals can include cost of data collection tools such as rental or purchase of tech equipment such as tablets, the use of stationery items such as pens and paper etc. and communication related costs such as network provider charges. Other categories such as data purchase/subscription and incentives for data collection purposes also need to be categorized separately according to the template. Please provide a description of the item, the quantity and cost of each material, and what data collection activity will be carried out using those materials.

#### **Training**

Proposals can include costs for training of staff conducting the data collection. Please provide a description and breakdown of the training costs and clarify what the training is for. Any training for project personnel like research assistants should be included in 'other' under the **events/dissemination section** of the budget.

#### Other

Please use this section in the budget to specify any data collection costs for the project that are not covered by the aforementioned categories. This can include a monthly subscription for specialised software, etc. Please ensure that you provide details and a justification for each of these costs.

#### 7.3. Events / dissemination

Proposals can include event costs and other related costs to disseminate the research findings and facilitate engagement with policymakers. Research teams are encouraged to liaise with IGC country teams in planning their dissemination efforts, particularly where teams have contacts relevant to the research findings.

Please ensure that the event costs of catering, conference package, venue hire, and marketing/advertising are provided separately with justifications for each of these costs. Capacity building costs such as training research assistants, training for policymakers etc. can come under the 'other' sub-section.

### 7.4. Travel expenses

Travel expenses may cover project related travel of the research team, i.e. the principal and co-investigators, research assistants, project managers, etc. Travel expenses for field and survey staff should be included in the *data collection* section of the budget.

Please consult the <u>IGC travel policy</u> when composing your detailed budget for your application to ensure that it is in line with IGC guidelines.

### **Flights**

The IGC contributes towards air travel (both international and domestic) for **standard economy class** travel only, across the most cost-effective route between country of location and country of destination, booked reasonably in advance of the travel dates. Business flights will not be reimbursed by the IGC. If the traveller plans to travel on a ticket other than standard economy, they must provide a standard economy class quote for the exact same itinerary.

Please specify in the budget what the flight route is (to/from), the number of flights/travellers on that route, and the cost of the flight. If the flight price is particularly high, please include appropriate rationale.

### Other travel

For other transportation costs, please include the mode of transport, the number of travellers, and the anticipated cost. More information about the different transport categories (i.e. car, train, taxis, public transport, etc.) can be found in the travel policy. If public transport is not being used, please provide an appropriate rationale.

### Accommodation and subsistence

The travel policy includes IGC **accommodation and subsistence** rates for travel to IGC partner countries. The IGC will only contribute to travel expenses that are in accordance with the rates specified in the <u>IGC travel policy</u>. For guidelines on accommodation and subsistence rates in non-IGC partner countries, applicants should follow the <u>HMRC World Wide Subsistence Rates</u>.

### **Miscellaneous**

Travel expenses such as **visa costs** and **vaccinations** can be included as direct costs when the traveller is a non-fee earning participant on the project. Otherwise, these costs should be incorporated into the daily fee rate.

### 7.5. Equipment

The IGC follows strict equipment procurement guidelines from its funder. All procurement of equipment must be undertaken in accordance with FCDO Guidance on Procurement of Goods and Environmental Procurement Policy or such other procedures as may be agreed in writing. Procurement must also achieve value for money and be conducted in a fully transparent manner; and be on the basis that the ownership in equipment shall vest in FCDO and shall be so marked.

The IGC expects that researchers and institutions provide their own IT equipment to carry out its project activities and does not normally contribute funds for tools of trade. If there is a strong case for charging the IGC for IT equipment on this project, strong justification needs to be provided.

In the event that the IGC sanctions funds to be spent on IT equipment such as laptops, tablets, computers, etc. this will be limited to either a case for renting the equipment or charging the IGC the value of the equipment for the period it will be used during this project by applying an accelerated 3-year depreciation rule (50 - 30 - 20) to the full cost of the equipment. For example, if a £400 laptop will be used for the project for 1 year, the IGC may contribute £200 towards the purchase of that laptop. If the full cost of the equipment is charged to the project, a rationale needs to be provided in the budget template. The IGC does not guarantee funding towards cost of equipment and will determine if it represents clear value for money.

### 7.6. Subcontractor(s)

If you are using a third party to carry out work on the project, those costs should be included in the *data collection* or *events/dissemination costs* sections of the budget template. Please provide a breakdown of the activities and associated costs that the subcontractor will implement for the project. Please include the name of the supplier or write 'supplier TBC' if you have not yet chosen your preferred supplier.

You should justify in the budget why you have chosen that particular supplier and whether you have undertaken a competitive procurement process, demonstrating that this represents value for money. For any service (such as a firm hired to conduct a survey) included in the budget which amounts to £8k or more, researchers must obtain at least 3 competitive quotes in order to ensure value for money. Any line over £50k requires a formal tender process. For auditing purposes, the principal investigator/institution should retain all receipts from all service providers.

### 7.7. Overhead

If a project will be administered through an **institution**, overhead can be paid but is **capped at a maximum of 15%** of the total direct costs specific to the project. Please note that the IGC defines an institution as an organization occupying a physical space where it is located, and that actively incurs costs (such as rent and services) which are consistent with overhead charges. The project budget should reflect this as appropriate. Please note that only institutions can apply for an overhead. Please note, 3<sup>rd</sup> party sub-contractor costs should be removed from the direct costs before calculating your institutional overheads (which must not exceed 15%). 3<sup>rd</sup> party overheads, if applicable, should be included in the sub-contractor section of the budget. Overhead can be split across multiple institutions but cannot cumulatively total more than 15% of all project costs.

### Annex 1 – Frequently Asked Questions

### 1. Should researchers come from IGC countries or only focus on IGC countries?

Applicants can come from anywhere in the world, but we strongly encourage research to be conducted in a country where the IGC has resident teams.

### 2. Do I need a PhD to apply?

The Lead PI of a proposal must hold or be currently pursuing a PhD. Co-PIs generally should have the same qualifications, but exceptional candidates with a master's degree can be considered.

### 3. Do you fund researchers who are not engaged at top universities?

Yes, IGC gives equal opportunity to researchers from all over the world, and proposals are assessed on the evaluation criteria outlined in this document: research quality, alignment of topic with IGC priorities, academic impact, policy impact, local stakeholder engagement, and value for money.

### 4. Can we apply if we work for an NGO, and not an academic institution?

Typically, no. IGC has funded projects in the past where an NGO collaborates with an academic institution, but we have rarely funded projects purely with NGOs as the lead institution. We would strongly encourage you to collaborate with an academic or research centre partner.

#### 5. Can a research assistant be hired?

Yes, RAs are allowed to be added to a project budget. Rates for RAs and all others claiming fees must coincide with the IGC Pay Matrix.

#### 6. Do you pay per diems?

No, the IGC follows the UK FCDO's travel policies, and is unable to pay per diems. It does, however, fund expenses if they have been budgeted for in the proposal, and only if original receipts are presented. Please refer to the <u>IGC Travel</u> Policy for further details.

# 7. We are applying for other sources of funding or have already received other funds. Is it still possible to apply?

Yes. The IGC encourages applicants to indicate budget priorities in their proposals under the section regarding 'financial information'. In the event that the IGC is unable to fund the entire project, it will then be easier to identify which modules are essential. Applicants who have secured or aim to secure other funding are also welcome to apply for only partial funding for their project from the IGC. In this scenario, applicants should make clear what proportion of overall funding for the project is being requested from the IGC.

### 8. Do we need prior engagement with the respective IGC country team and stakeholders?

Prior engagement is not a requirement, but the proposal is more likely to be successful if it responds to policy demands in the country selected. However, for small grant applicants, they must contact the IGC country team as they develop their proposals. Researchers should contact the country teams for more information.

# 9. Does IGC consider research proposals that aim to contribute empirically but not theoretically to a particular topic? Or conversely proposals that contribute theoretically but don't have empirical analysis?

IGC rarely funds proposals that are purely theoretical. The majority of projects that IGC funds do not have mathematical models. Most funded projects are based on microeconomics, and it is rare for IGC to fund projects based on macroeconomic questions. Proposals based on purely empirical questions are welcomed.

# 10. How methodologically intensive do the proposals need to be? Can the proposal be just a research idea or does it have to be detailed with descriptions of the data and methodology that one intends to use?

Proposals must contain a clear description of how the researchers plan to execute the project. It cannot just be a research idea or a research question. It should have other substantial details on how to answer that research question through empirical research. If you only have a research question with some plan to execute the project but do not have

the data, please get in touch with the country team and share your research question/idea with them and they can help guide you on how to get access to the required data and how to proceed with the proposal.

### 11. Is research design necessary if you are using secondary data?

Yes, research design is important if you are using primary or secondary/administrative data. Your research design should explain how you are going to use the data and analyse the data.

## 12. How likely is it for IGC to fund a replication study especially if it has never been done before in that country of interest?

If it is pure replication where you are taking the exact same project and taking it to another country, it has a low chance of going through funding as it won't be very competitive. If it is pure replication but you have had an interaction with the policymaker who specifically asked for that work to be replicated in that country, then that has a much better chance of going through funding. If you add a small component of novelty to the design and you have a strong policymaker buyin, then you have a high chance of acceptance.



www.theigc.org